FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
12/8/2022 2:51 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/9/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101529-1 Court of Appeals No. 56291-0-II

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC., WASTE MANAGEMENT DISPOSAL SERVICES OF OREGON, INC., MJ TRUCKING & CONTRACTING, and DANIEL ANDERSON TRUCKING AND EXCAVATION, LLC,

Petitioners,

v.

WASHINGTON UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION, an agency of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Waste Management of Washington, Inc., Waste Management Disposal Services of Oregon, Inc., Daniel Anderson Trucking & Excavating, LLC, and MJ Trucking & Contracting, Inc., appellants in the Court of Appeals.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seeks review of the published decision of
Division Two of the Court of Appeals, filed November 8, 2022.

A copy of the decision is in Appendix 1 ("Opinion").

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err when it ruled that federal law *does not* preempt state economic regulation of trailer-on-flatcar and container-on-flatcar ("TOFC/COFC") service, a unique form of transporting cargo that requires both a rail and a truck leg and that is subject to exclusive federal jurisdiction?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The federal Surface Transportation Board ("STB") and its predecessor, the Interstate Commerce Commission ("ICC"), have **exclusively** regulated TOFC/COFC service for decades.

Improvement of TOFC/COFC Regulation, EP No. 230 (Sub-No. 5), 364 I.C.C. 731 (ICC 1981) ("Sub-No. 5"), aff'd sub nom. Am. Trucking Ass'ns. v. ICC, 656 F.2d 1115 (5th Cir. 1981).<sup>1</sup>

TOFC/COFC service is "a form of mixed train <u>and</u> truck transportation" that "enables a carrier to transport a trailer [or a container] and its contents over rail on a flatcar and then to haul the trailer [or container] on the highway. The goods need not be unloaded and reloaded when they move from the rail mode to the truck mode," or vice versa; "the shipment remains within the trailer or container during the entire journey." *ICC v. Texas*, 479 U.S. 450, 451-52 (1987) (emphasis added). TOFC/COFC service "by definition involves a prior or subsequent movement by rail carrier[.]" *Improvement of TOFC/COFC Regulations* (*Pickup and Delivery*), EP No. 230 (Sub-No. 7), 6 I.C.C.2d 208 (1989) ("Sub-No. 7").<sup>2</sup> In contrast, the highway transportation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of Sub-No. 5 is in Appendix 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A copy of Sub-No. 7 is in Appendix 3.

of an intermodal container, without the continuous rail leg, is **not** TOFC/COFC service nor at issue here.

Petitioners provided COFC service from two paper mills in Washington to a landfill in Oregon. This involved the transportation in trucks of closed intermodal containers of old corrugated cardboard rejects ("OCC Rejects") from the mills and the transloading of the closed intermodal containers from trucks in Washington to rail cars owned by the Union Pacific Railroad for delivery to Oregon. Admin. Rec. at 496-97.

Below is a photograph of a closed intermodal container of OCC Rejects being transloaded in COFC service in Washington from a truck to the rail line.



*Id.* at 547-53.

Below is a photograph of a closed intermodal container of OCC Rejects being offloaded in Oregon at the end of the COFC service from Washington.



*Id.* at 539-46.

Although COFC service is exclusively regulated by the STB, Murrey's Disposal Co. ("Murrey's") petitioned the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission ("UTC") to halt Petitioners' COFC service. Murrey's claimed that its

solid waste collection certificate from the UTC for the areas where the two paper mills are located barred Petitioners' COFC service. *Id.* at 6-13.<sup>3</sup>

The UTC granted the declaratory relief requested by Murrey's and ruled that the STB does not have exclusive jurisdiction over Petitioners' COFC service. *Id.* at 572-87. Petitioners appealed to the Thurston County Superior Court which transferred the appeal to the Court of Appeals. CP 1-117, 215-17.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the UTC's exercise of jurisdiction over COFC service. Contrary to federal law, it ruled that Congress and the STB *did not* preempt state economic regulation of COFC service and that the UTC also may regulate in this area.

Inlike in most stat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Unlike in most states, the UTC grants "an unchallenged monopoly over a specific service area" to solid waste collection companies subject to tariffs dictated by the UTC, not the open market. *See* <a href="https://www.utc.wa.gov/about-us/about-commission/history-commission">https://www.utc.wa.gov/about-us/about-commission/history-commission</a> (last visited 12/4/22).

#### V. ARGUMENT

The decision of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with federal law and the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. ART. VI. ¶ 2.

# A. The STB Has Exclusive Authority Over All Railroad Transportation, Including Where the Cargo Is Solid Waste.

Congress granted the STB jurisdiction over railroad transportation in the Interstate Commerce Commission

Termination Act ("ICCTA"). By definition, that jurisdiction is "exclusive"; there is no other, *non-exclusive* grant of jurisdiction.

The jurisdiction of the Board over – [] transportation by rail carriers ... is <u>exclusive</u>. Except as otherwise provided in this part, the remedies provided under this part with respect to regulation of rail transportation are <u>exclusive</u> and <u>preempt the remedies</u> <u>provided under Federal or State law</u>.

49 U.S.C. § 10501(b) (emphasis added). The STB has made clear that "the remedies provided under this part" refers to the provisions at "49 U.S.C. §§ 10101-11908[.]" *Ass'n of Am. RRs* 

– *Pet'n for Decl. Order*, FD 36369 at 2 (STB Dec. 30, 2020).<sup>4</sup> Among those exclusive federal remedies is 49 U.S.C. § 10502 which authorized the ICC (now the STB) to exempt rail carrier transportation from economic regulation. As discussed below, that is the precise authority under which the STB exercised its exclusive jurisdiction over TOFC/COFC service. *See Bass v. City of Edmonds*, 199 Wn.2d 403, 411, 508 P.3d 172 (2022) ("We consider both the specific preemption statute and any related statutes that shed light on legislative intent.").

The STB "and courts have stated that the core purpose of" ICCTA preemption "is to ensure the free flow of interstate commerce, particularly by preventing a patchwork of differing regulations across states." *Ass'n of Am. RRs*, FD 36369 at 2. Congress made plain the breadth of the statute's preemptive effect in its definition of rail "transportation." *Del Grosso v.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The decision is available at <a href="https://www.stb.gov/proceedings-actions/search-stb-records/">https://www.stb.gov/proceedings-actions/search-stb-records/</a> and in Appendix 4.

STB, 898 F.3d 139, 149 (1st Cir. 2018) ("transportation" in "ICCTA-speak" is "expansive").

'Transportation' includes –

- (A) A locomotive, car, vehicle, vessel, warehouse, wharf, pier, dock, yard, property, facility, instrumentality, or equipment of any kind related to the movement of passengers or property, or both, by rail, regardless of ownership or an agreement concerning use; and
- (B) <u>Services related to that movement</u>, including <u>receipt</u>, <u>delivery</u>, elevation, <u>transfer in transit</u>, refrigeration, icing, ventilation, storage, <u>handling</u>, and <u>interchange of</u> passengers and <u>property</u>.

49 U.S.C. § 10102(9) (emphasis added).

The ICCTA was passed "with the purpose of expanding federal jurisdiction and preemption of railroad regulation." *Or. Coast Scenic RR, LLC v. Or. Dep't of State Lands*, 841 F.3d 1069, 1072 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2016); *accord Canadian Nat. Ry. Co. v. City of Rockwood*, No. COV-04-40323, 2005 WL 1349077, \*3 (E.D. Mich. June 1, 2005) ("Congress enacted the ICCTA as a means of reducing the regulation of the railroad industry."). To

this end, Congress expressly preempted state regulation by granting exclusive jurisdiction over railroad operations to the STB. Or. Coast Scenic RR, 841 F.3d at 1072 (The statutory changes were "made to reflect the direct and complete preemption of State economic regulation of railroads.") (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 104-311 at 95 (1995)); Ass'n of Am. RRs v. S. Coast Air Quality Mgmt. Dist., 622 F.3d 1094, 1097 (9th Cir. 2010) (The ICCTA "preempts all state laws that may reasonably be said to have the effect of managing or governing rail transportation[.]") (quotation marks & citation omitted); City of Auburn v. U.S. Gov't, 154 F.3d 1025, 1031 (9th Cir. 1998) (affirming the STB's preemption of local environmental laws).

The ICCTA preempts state economic regulation of all rail transportation, including where the cargo is solid waste.

The STB held that intermodal containers of solid waste "which would be transferred directly from trucks to rail cars" were subject to its exclusive jurisdiction. *New England Transrail*,

Construction, Acquisition and Operation Exemption – In
Wilmington and Woburn, MA, FD 34797, 2007 WL 1989841 at
\*8-\*9 (STB July 10, 2007) ("[W]hat our statute does not
permit, in this or any case, is to have different legal standards
for what is part of rail transportation based on the particular
commodity involved."). The transfer of pre-baled solid waste
from trucks to rail cars also was subject to exclusive STB
jurisdiction. Id. All these "activities would be integrally
related to transportation and therefore would be covered by the
section 10501(b) preemption." Id. at \*9.

Likewise, solid waste handling associated with rail carriage was "transportation" exclusively regulated by federal law. In regard to a facility that transloaded solid waste from trucks to railroad cars, the Third Circuit considered solid waste to be STB-regulated "cargo":

[O]perations of the [waste handling] facilities include dropping off cargo, loading it onto Susquehanna trains, and shipping it. Thus the

facilities engage in the receipt, storage, handling, and interchange of rail cargo, which the [ICCTA] explicitly defines as 'transportation.' *See* 49 U.S.C. § 10102(9)(B). These operations fit within the plain text of the [ICCTA's] preemption clause.

N.Y. Susquehanna & W. Ry. Corp. v. Jackson, 500 F.3d 238, 247 (3rd Cir. 2007); accord Canadian Nat. Ry., 2005 WL 1349077 at \*4 ("activities which take place at [railroad] transload facilities are considered 'transportation' by the ICCTA"); Waste Mgmt. of N.J., Inc. v. Union Cnty. Utils. Auth., 945 A.2d 73, 86 (Superior Ct. of N.J. App. Div. 2008) ("As to the nature of the conduct regarding the storage and handling of waste – what has been referred to as 'transloading' – it now seems settled that transloading activities fall within [the ICCTA]'s definition of 'transportation.'") (quotation marks, citations & n. omitted).

In short, the STB and the courts hold that the STB's exclusive authority is based on the type of transportation, <u>not</u> "on the particular commodity involved." *New England* 

Transrail, 2007 WL 1989841 at \*8-\*9. And the STB specifically has confirmed its jurisdiction over solid waste handling, answering in the affirmative the Court of Appeals' "question whether the federal statute preempts state regulation of solid waste collection" when the transportation at issue falls within the STB's grant of exclusive authority, as it does here. Opinion at 11.

## B. The STB Exercises Exclusive Authority Over COFC Service.

Pursuant to its "exclusive" jurisdiction over the "transportation by rail carriers" and "the remedies provided" under the rail transportation statute, 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b), the STB and its predecessor, the ICC, have exercised authority over TOFC/COFC service for many decades. Initially, the ICC only exercised such authority when both the truck and rail legs of the TOFC/COFC service were provided by the railroad. In time, the STB expanded its authority over all TOFC/COFC service including where the truck leg was provided by an independent motor carrier as here. However, the Court of Appeals

disregarded that <u>all</u> federal economic jurisdiction over rail transportation is exclusive: if federal jurisdiction attaches, it is by definition exclusive. Opinion at 10 (ignoring § 10502(a)'s "jurisdiction of the Board under this part" in wrongly concluding that "[n]othing in 49 U.S.C. § 10502(a) or (b) expressly preempts or even mentions state law.").<sup>5</sup>

In 1980, Congress addressed the economic and competitive condition of the rail industry by enacting the Staggers Rail Act, explicitly stating: "In regulating the railroad industry, it is the policy of the United States Government [] to allow, to the maximum extent possible, competition and the demand for services to establish reasonable rates for transportation by rail[.]" 49 U.S.C. § 10101(1).

Congress broadly and clearly authorized the ICC to exempt regulation of rail transportation. "In a matter related to a rail carrier providing transportation <u>subject to the</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Copies of 49 U.S.C. §§ 10501-10502 are in Appendix 6-7, respectively.

jurisdiction of the Board under this part, the Board, to the maximum extent consistent with this part, shall exempt" from regulation any "service whenever the Board finds that the application in whole or in part of a provision of this part [] is not necessary to carry out the transportation policy of section 10101 of this title[.]" *Id.* § 10502(a) (emphasis added). The "jurisdiction of the Board under this part" – that is, "Part A" which governs rail transportation – is set forth at 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b) which, as noted above, gave the Board "exclusive" jurisdiction over "transportation by rail carriers" and "the remedies provided" under the railroad transportation statute. *Id.* § 10501(b).6

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In its amicus brief to the Court of Appeals, the Association of American Railroads emphasized that "[t]he broad preemptive effect of the STB's jurisdiction reflects the importance of, and compelling need for uniformity in, operation of the interstate rail system. In preempting state laws, Congress has eliminated all obstacles to execution of federal law and the accomplishment of federal objectives." 3/11/22 Brief of *Amicus Curie* Association of American Railroads at 19-20.

In the case of deregulation by exemption, the STB retains jurisdiction over exempt transportation because the exemption can be revoked. *Id.* § 10502(d). Hence, the ICC could exempt – and revoke such exemption – pursuant to its exclusive authority over transportation by rail carriers. The D.C. Circuit emphasized this point: "Exercise of the ICC's section [10502] exemption authority neither lodges nor dislodges agency jurisdiction; instead, it *presupposes* ICC jurisdiction over the persons or services exempted." Central States Motor Freight Bureau, Inc. v. ICC, 924 F.2d 1099, 1102 (D.C. Cir. 1991). And that jurisdiction is exclusive. Fayus Enters. v. BNSF Ry. Co., 602 F.3d 444, 451-52 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (In the Staggers Rail Act, Congress "reaffirm[ed] that where the [ICC] has withdrawn its jurisdiction to regulate, the State could not assume such jurisdiction.") (quoting the Congressional Record).

The STB, and before it, the ICC, are the governing authorities on the scope of their jurisdiction and the

at 1097. In 1981, the ICC exercised its authority to exempt from regulation – *i.e.*, to deregulate – the highway portion of TOFC/COFC service if the rail carrier itself was performing the highway transportation in rail-owned trucks. Sub-No. 5, 364 I.C.C. 731. The exemption was limited to "service provided by railroads," including both the rail and truck legs. *Id.* at \*733.

The ICC's exemption was challenged, and the United States Supreme Court held that the exemption prohibited Texas from regulating the motor portion of TOFC/COFC service:

The ICC's statutory authority includes jurisdiction to grant exemptions from regulation as well as to regulate. In 1980, Congress enacted the Staggers Rail Act ... which authorizes the ICC to exempt from state regulation 'transportation that is provided by a rail carrier as a part of a continuous intermodal movement.'

ICC v. Tex., 479 U.S. at 452.

Several years later, the ICC expanded the TOFC/COFC exemption to include highway transportation by a motor carrier

either as the agent or the joint rate partner of a rail carrier. Improvement of TOFC/COFC Regulations (Railroad-Affiliated *Motor Carriers and Other Motor Carriers*), EP No. 230 (Sub-No. 6), 3 I.C.C.2d 869 (1987) ("Sub-No. 6"). The ICC noted that "[i]t has long been recognized that the rail and highway ... portions of TOFC/COFC service are integrally related, because no single mode of transportation standing alone normally satisfies the needs of a TOFC/COFC shipper." *Id.* at \*872. All such "service is, by its essential nature, bimodal' because 'its basic characteristic is the combination of the inherent advantages of rail and motor transportation." Id. (quoting Am. Trucking Assn's v. A.T.& S.F.R. Co., 387 U.S. 397, 420 (1967)) (brackets omitted).

Moreover,

[M]otor TOFC/COFC service that is part of a continuous rail/motor movement is obviously 'relat[ed] to a rail carrier providing transportation subject to' the Commission's jurisdiction. A railroad

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A copy of Sub-No. 6 is in Appendix 5.

cannot provide such intermodal service without first receiving a trailer or container, which is generally moved over-the-road by truck. The highway movement of containers and trailers is an integral and necessary element of TOFC/COFC service.

Id. at \*873-\*74 (quoting 49 U.S.C. § 10505(a), now codified as 49 U.S.C. § 10502(a)) (emphasis added). "[W]hether they are owned by their railroad partners, affiliated with them, or independent companies, the motor carriers involved in the overthe-road segment of TOFC/COFC services are business partners of the railroads that are plainly participating in matters 'related to a rail carrier' and are thus within the literal and philosophical scope of § 10505(a) [now codified as 49 U.S.C. § 10502(a)]." Id. at \*874 (emphasis added). The ICC rejected the argument of the motor carriers that "the exemption may be applied only to rail transportation[.]" Id. at \*875 (emphasis original).

In Sub-No. 6, the ICC exercised its exclusive jurisdiction and adopted 49 C.F.R. § 1090.2, exempting TOFC/COFC service from regulation:

Except as provided in 49 U.S.C. §10505(e) and (g), §10922(1), and §10530, rail TOFC/COFC service and highway TOFC/COFC service provided by a rail carrier either itself or jointly with a motor carrier as part of a continuous intermodal freight movement, is exempt from the requirements of 49 U.S.C. Subtitle IV, regardless of the type, affiliation, or ownership of the carrier performing the highway portion of the service. Tariffs heretofore applicable to any transportation service exempted by this section shall no longer apply to such service.

Id. at \*866.

In 1989, the ICC took the final step to exempt from regulation TOFC/COFC service where, as here, such service is "arranged <u>independently</u> with the shipper or receiver (or its representative/agent) and performed immediately before or after a TOFC/COFC movement provided by a rail carrier[.]" Sub-No. 7, 6 I.C.C.2d at \*227 (emphasis added). The ICC <u>rejected</u>

the motor carriers' argument "that [the ICC] lack[s] jurisdiction to exempt any service in trucks" and that the expansion of the TOFC/COFC service exemption did not involve "a matter related to a rail carrier providing transportation subject to the jurisdiction of the ... Commission[.]" Id. at \*209, \*211 (quoting 49 U.S.C. § 10505(a), now codified as 49 U.S.C. § 10502(a)). The view rejected by the ICC is the view resuscitated by the Court of Appeals below. Opinion at 12 ("For an activity to come within the STB's exclusive jurisdiction and to be covered by preemption, the activity must satisfy both the 'transportation' and 'rail carrier' requirements.").

In its final expansion of the TOFC/COFC exemption, the ICC explained:

The threshold issue in this case, as it has been in the other related piggyback exemption cases, is whether the service at issue involved 'a matter related to a rail carrier providing transportation subject to the jurisdiction of the ... Commission[.]'

Sub-No. 7, 6 I.C.C.2d at \*212 (quoting 49 U.S.C. § 10505(a), now codified at 49 U.S.C. § 10502(a)). The jurisdiction of the ... Commission is set forth in the preceding provision: "The jurisdiction of the Board over – (1) transportation by rail carriers ... is exclusive along with the "remedies" that follow. 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b). It is here that the Court of Appeals improperly grafted its finding that the STB only has authority where the transportation is "by rail carriers" which the Court of Appeals found cannot include the trucking component of TOFC/COFC service.

The ICC rejected this precise argument.

Relying largely on what [the truckers] view as incompatible statutory directives in the Motor Carrier Act of 1980 (MCA), the opponents of the exemption claim that the service in issue is not rail-related, **because it is not provided by rail carriers**. Their view seems to be that the 'related-to-rail' language really means "provided by rail.' **We reject the motor carriers' arguments**, as we did earlier, and find that the motor carrier services at issue here are related to rail

<sup>8</sup> TOFC/COFC service is also known as "piggyback."

21

# carriers providing transportation <u>subject to</u> <u>Commission jurisdiction</u>[.]

Sub-No. 7, 6 I.C.C.2d at \*227 (emphasis added).

A dissenting Commissioner would have found that the ICC "lack[ed] jurisdictional authority" over "the independent motor pickup and delivery portion at issue here" which he believed "is by definition not provided by a railroad." *Id.* at \*223-\*24 (Lamboley, C., dissenting). Over this objection, the ICC found under its authority at 49 U.S.C. § 10505 (now codified as 49 U.S.C. § 10502(a)) – which "is subject to the" exclusive "jurisdiction of the Board under [the Rail] part" – that "TOFC/COFC pickup and delivery services performed <u>by</u> <u>motor carriers</u> as part of continuous intermodal movement are related to rail carrier transportation" and should be exempted

from economic regulation. Sub-No. 7, 6 I.C.C.2d at \*222, \*226 (emphasis added).<sup>9</sup>

Exercising its "exclusive" statutory jurisdiction over railroads, the ICC concluded that it should exempt **all of** the TOFC/COFC service because:

[I]t should have some clear benefits for the shipping public: more efficient coordinated service; more flexibility with respect to rates and services; better and more equal opportunities for shippers' associations to compete with parties able to take advantage of exempt joint rate or agency arrangements; more competition among truckers for ex-rail traffic; and greater freedom from unnecessary and unproductive economic regulator constraints. The purpose of this and the prior piggyback exemptions is to free

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Ignoring the ICC's TOFC/COFC decisions, the Court of Appeals instead claimed support from a New Jersey case that neither involved nor addressed TOFC/COFC service. Opinion at 13-15 (citing *Hi Tech Trans, LLC – Petition for Declaratory Order – Newark, NJ*, 2003 WL 21952136 (STB Aug. 14, 2003), and *Hi Tech Trans, LLC v. N.J.*, 382 F.3d 295 (3rd Cir. 2004)). Pointing to these unrelated decisions, the Court of Appeals remarked that "Waste Management's solid waste collection activities involved transportation *to* a rail carrier, not *by* a rail carrier," Opinion at 16, the very argument by the truckers the ICC rejected with respect to TOFC/COFC service. Sub-No. 7, 6 I.C.C.2d at \*227.

## <u>regulation so that they are better able to</u> compete in the marketplace.

Id. at \*215-\*16 (emphasis added). The ICC based its Sub-No.
7 decision on the *opposite* of the economic regulatory regime
the UTC seeks to impose here over TOFC/COFC service.<sup>10</sup>

In Sub-No. 7, the ICC revised 49 C.F.R. § 1090.2 as follows (additions underlined):

Except as provided in 49 U.S.C. §10505(e) and (g), §10922(1), and §10530, rail TOFC/COFC service and highway TOFC/COFC service provided by a rail carrier either itself or jointly with a motor carrier as part of a continuous intermodal freight movement, is exempt from the requirements of 49 U.S.C. Subtitle IV, regardless of the type, affiliation, or ownership of the carrier performing the highway portion of the service. Motor carrier TOFC/COFC pickup and delivery services arranged independently with the shipper or receiver (or its representative/agent) and performed immediately before or after a TOFC/COFC movement provided by a rail

regulation.

24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The UTC's desire to control tariffs is *not* an incidental impact on the STB's jurisdiction as the Court of Appeals found; it wholly undercuts the very purpose of the STB's TOFC/COFC

carrier are similarly exempt. Tariffs heretofore applicable to any transportation service exempted by this section shall no longer apply to such service. The exemption does not apply to a motor carrier service in which a rail carrier participates only as the motor carrier's agent (Plan I TOFC/COFC), nor does the exemption operate to relieve any carrier of any obligation it would otherwise have, absent the exemption, with respect to providing contractual terms for liability and claims.

Id. at \*227.<sup>11</sup> Thus, not only did the ICC confirm that its jurisdiction – which is exclusive – includes regulation of the highway portion of the "continuous intermodal transportation," its jurisdiction includes trucking companies performing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The ICC's decision to <u>exclude</u> Plan I TOFC/COC service from the exemption confirms its jurisdiction over such service. In other words, Plan I TOFC/COFC service remains subject to (is not excluded from) exclusive federal regulation.

highway portion of TOFC/COFC service and operating "independently" of the rail carrier. <sup>12</sup> *Id*.

Included in the two "broad categories of state and local actions" that "have been found to be categorically preempted regardless of the context or rationale for the action" is "state or local regulation of matters that are directly regulated by the" STB. *Ass'n of Am. RRs*, FD 36369 at 3 (quotation marks & citation omitted). The STB directly regulates TOFC/COFC service and provides that "[t]ariffs heretofore applicable to any transportation service exempted by this section **shall no longer apply** to such service." 49 C.F.R. § 1090.2 (emphasis added).

#### C. There Is No Presumption Against Preemption Here.

The service the UTC seeks to regulate here is the highway portion of the continuous intermodal movement of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> "Federal regulations have no less pre-emptive effect than federal statutes." *Fidelity Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. de la Cuesta*, 458 U.S. 141, 153 (1982); *accord Inlandboatmen's Union of the Pac. v. Dep't of Transp.*, 119 Wn.2d 697, 702, 836 P.2d 823 (1992) ("Federal regulations, within the scope of an agency's authority, have the same preemptive effect as federal statutes.").

freight that is a necessary component of TOFC/COFC service — an area controlled exclusively by federal laws and agencies for decades. Under these circumstances, no presumption against preemption applies. While the UTC did not assert the existence of any presumption against preemption, the Court of Appeals erred in employing such a presumption. Opinion at 11-12.

A presumption against preemption "is not triggered when the State regulates in an area where there has been a history of significant federal presence." *U.S. v. Locke*, 529 U.S. 89, 108

(2000).<sup>13</sup> Undisputedly, the transportation of freight by railroad is a field that is traditionally occupied by the federal government. *City of Auburn*, 154 F.3d at 1027 (federal regulation of railroads is "among the most pervasive and comprehensive of federal regulatory schemes") (internal quotations omitted).

Under the ICCTA, as previously noted, STB jurisdiction over rail transportation always "is exclusive." 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b). Where Congress expressly preempts state law, the

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