FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/24/2023 9:51 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101529-1 Court of Appeals No. 56291-0-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC., WASTE MANAGEMENT DISPOSAL SERVICES OF OREGON, INC., MJ TRUCKING & CONTRACTING, and DANIEL ANDERSON TRUCKING AND EXCAVATION, LLC,

Petitioners-Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION, an agency of the State of Washington, **Respondent**,

MURREY'S DISPOSAL COMPANY, INC., and WASHINGTON REFUSE AND RECYCLE ASSOCIATION, Intervenors.

ANSWER OF THE WASHINGTON REFUSE AND RECYCLE ASSOCIATION

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

V. ARGUMENT

Congress and the federal judiciary, as well as Washington Courts, have historically preserved state regulation of solid waste collection. Appellants' preemption premise has far reaching consequences for Washington's interwoven state and local solid waste regulations which directly contravenes policies established by the legislature. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding a lack of preemption here.

A. Congress and Courts have Repeatedly Recognized Local Authority Over Solid Waste Collection in the Context of Federal Preemption.

Courts across the nation have recognized the "that waste disposal is a traditional local government function." *United Haulers Ass'n v. Oneida-Herkimer Solid Waste Mgmt. Auth.*, 261 F.3d 245, 263 (2d Cir. 2001). Indeed, "[for] ninety years, it has been settled law that garbage collection and disposal is a core function of local government." *USA Recycling v. Town of* *Babylon*, 66 F.3d 1272, 1275 (2d Cir. 1995). In *United Haulers*, the Supreme Court noted that Congress has also recognized the essential role of local government in waste management, affirming that "collection and disposal of solid wastes should continue to be primarily the function of State, regional, and local agencies." 550 U.S. 330, 344, 127 S. Ct. 1786, 1796, 167 L.Ed.2d 655, 668 (2007) (quoting the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, 90 Stat. 2797, 42 U.S.C. § 6901(a)(4)).

One of the most significant decisions regarding federal preemption and local solid waste collection is from the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, in *AGG Enterprises v. Washington County*. 281 F. 3d at 1324. Premised upon federal preemption of trucking regulation via the Federal Aviation Administration Authorizing Act of 1994, AGG challenged Washington County, Oregon's regulation of solid waste. *Id* at 1326. AGG claimed it was not subject to the exclusive franchises for solid waste issued by Washington County due to federal preemption. *Id*.

17

The AGG court refused to divest state and local authority over solid waste collection "absent a "clear and manifest" purpose, if not an explicit instruction from Congress…" *Id.* at 1330.

The AGG Court characterized the historical treatment of solid waste collection in the context of federal preemption:

One could hardly imagine an area of regulation that has been considered to be more intrinsically local in nature than collection of garbage and refuse, upon which may rest the health, safety, and aesthetic well-being of the community.

Id. at 1328. Similarly, state and federal courts have consistently upheld the local regulation and control over the collection of solid waste. In *Kleenwell Biohazard Waste v. Nelson*, the court found that the WUTC's regulation of solid waste does not impermissibly burden interstate commerce. 48 F.3d 391 (9th Cir. 2002). Likewise, in *Ventenbergs v. Seattle*, the Washington Supreme Court found that Seattle acted reasonably within its police powers and the authority delegated by the legislature in contracting exclusively for solid waste collection services within the city. 163 Wash.2d 92, 178 P.3d 960 (2008).

There is no shortage of case law, state, and federal, addressing the right of local government to regulate solid waste but also, at least peripherally, to enforce said regulation. Congress and federal judicial bodies, as well as Washington Courts, have historically preserved state regulation of solid waste collection.

B. Appellant's Sweeping Preemption Argument Would Impair a Valid Exercise of State Police Power to Protect Public Health and Safety.

Proper solid waste management represents a critical exercise of state police power to preserve public health. *Spokane v. Carlson*, 73 Wn.2d 76, 81, 436 P.2d 454, 457 (1968). The Washington Legislature extensively regulates solid waste collection, handling and disposal because "[i]mproper methods and practices of handling and disposal of solid wastes pollute our land, air and water resources, blight our countryside, adversely affect land values, and damage the overall quality of our environment." RCW 70A.205.005(2). Appellants' arguments could ultimately undermine Washington's authority to preserve public health and safety. Indeed, if accepted, Appellants position extends to nearly every layer of state regulation for waste collected in TOFC/COFC containers that are eventually moved by rail.

As previously discussed, the WUTC regulates the collection of solid waste under RCW 81.77 and the Department of Ecology provides comprehensive regulation of solid waste handling facilities through RCW 70A.205, both at the state level. Local governments develop and implement comprehensive local solid waste management plans, establish solid waste handling systems, disposal sites, and regulate the movement of waste.⁵ All of this inter-governmental synergy is challenged and at risk under Appellants' preemption argument.

⁵ See RCW 70A.205.045 (county and city comprehensive solid waste management plans); See RCW 36.58.040 (solid waste handling systems and disposal sites authorized). RCW 70A.205.100 grants Local Jurisdictional Health Department's delegated authority to enforce the Department's regulations.

An exchange during oral argument at the Division II of the Court of appeals starkly reveals the scope and potential impacts of Appellant's preemption argument:

Judge Worswick: So I just want to make sure I understand your position. So the position is that a waste carrier can haul any type -- any type of waste in a closed container without any sort of federal regulation, as long as it's in a closed container and being loaded onto a rail car, is that correct? It doesn't matter what's in there? Cardboard? Plutonium? It doesn't matter what's in there?

Appellant: Well, plutonium is not regulated by the state and so the obligation –

Judge Worswick: Okay, something else that's regulated by the state.

Appellant: It's a fair point, Your Honor. So -- but when we're talking about something like that which is regulated by the federal government, the obligation is to try and make two federal statutes work if they are in conflict. So that is what I would say for plutonium. Other than that, yes, that is exactly the issue. This is just for the transportation part. This is not for what happens, you know, before or what happens after

Judge Worswick: If the container is leaking, you know, something all over the roads, the state can't regulate that at all? They can just --Appellant That is correct, Your Honor. TR at 24-25.⁶ The query posed by Judge Worswick initially asked whether *federal* regulation would apply under the circumstances, but the exchange quickly shifted to subsume regulations at both the *state and federal* level.

The WUTC's authority to regulate, including the contents and types of waste collected in TOFC/COFC containers, would be completely voided when the materials are ultimately moved by rail. Similarly, Appellants' preemption premise would also preclude enforcement of the Department of Ecology's solid waste regulations. Similarly, local government regulations and solid waste plans related to establishing comprehensive solid waste management systems would be preempted when materials are collected in TOFC/COFC containers, a practice which could become the "universal

⁶ Certified Transcript of Oral Argument held September 12, 2022; Waste Management of WA, et al vs WUTC, et al prepared by Capitol Pacific Reporting, attached as Appendix 2.

regulatory avoidance" practice and expand to other operators over time.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the preemptive effect of federal rail regulation simply does not extend as far as to preempt virtually all aspects of state and local solid waste regulation when materials are simply collected in TOFC/COFC containers that are eventually moved via rail. Courts across the nation have repeatedly recognized solid waste collection as a matter not subject to overbroad preemption and have correctly deferred to state and local governments to occupy the primary role in oversight of solid waste handling in the larger interests of public health and safety.

In WUTC Order 06, the WUTC correctly expressed concerns for Washington's overall regulatory scheme of solid waste collection and transportation. 2021 WASH. UTC LEXIS 89, *15. As noted above, were the Court to accept Appellants' arguments here, the interdependent levels of state and local regulation could be neutralized for any waste collected in TOFC/COFC containers that merely travel by rail at some point along the continuum before reaching an ultimate destination. Similarly, "flow control" designated by the local governments as a key mechanism for funding and managing their solid waste streams would be inapplicable to such wastes. Appellants have not expressed any limiting principle within their expansive arguments that would avoid those outcomes.

As emphasized, the collection and management of solid waste is an inherently local activity, and "the historic responsibility of local governments to ensure safe and comprehensive garbage collection posts a strong caution against the possibility that Congress lightly would preempt local regulation in this field." *AGG*, 281 F. 3d at 1328. This brief contains 3,792 words, exclusive of those identified in RAP 18.17 as not counting toward its word limit.